NO. 46328-8-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

LARRY DEAN WEATHERMAN,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John A. Hays, No. 16654 Attorney for Appellant

1402 Broadway Suite 103 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 423-3084

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Assignment of Error

- 1. The trial court denied the defendant a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, when it refused to allow him to present relevant, exculpatory evidence that the complaining witness had previously denied that the defendant abused her.
- 2. Trial counsel's failure to ask the court to instruct the jury that it had to be unanimous on each count denied the defendant effective assistance of counsel under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment,

because the jury's question on unanimity demonstrated that it did not understand this constitutional requirement.

3. The trial court erred when it based an exceptional sentence in part on a finding that the defendant committed the offenses upon a family or household member because that fact is inherent in the crime of incest.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

- 1. In a case charging incest does a trial court deny a defendant a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, if it refuses to allow the defense to present relevant, exculpatory evidence that the complaining witness had previously denied that the defendant sexually abused her?
- 2. Does a trial counsel's failure to ask the court to instruct a jury that it has to be unanimous on each count charged deny that defendant effective assistance of counsel under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment, if a jury sends out a question during deliberation that demonstrates that it does not understand the requirement for unanimity on each count, and when the court would have given the instruction and the jury would not have convicted?
- 3. Does a trial court err if it bases an exceptional sentence upon multiple convictions for incest in part upon a finding that a defendant committed the offenses upon a family or household member when that fact is inherent in the crime of incest?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual History

N.W. was born on September 5, 1985, to Tracy Shanks and Defendant Larry Dean Weatherman. RP 118, 226-227¹. The defendant also has a younger son by the name of J.W.. RP 326. Sometime when N.W. was very young Ms Shanks and the defendant ended their relationship and separated, after which Ms Shanks denied the defendant any access to their daughter. RP 226-227. During that period of time the defendant had a drug and alcohol problem. RP 234-235. As a result, N.W. has no memories of her father until she was 11-years-old. RP 121-122.

After N.W.'s 11th birthday she asked her mother if she could meet her father. RP 124-125. In fact she had previously asked a number of questions about him. *Id.* Upon learning from mutual friends that the defendant was clean and sober and living in an Oxford House, Ms Shanks eventually agreed to let N.W. meet her father. RP 124, 228-231. Thereafter the defendant and N.W. were reintroduced to each other. RP 124. Following their first meeting the defendant began to exercise visitation rights with both N.W. as he already did with J.W.. RP 125, 231.

¹The record on appeal includes three continuously numbered volumes of verbatim reports of the trial held over five days during the second half of April in 2014, and the sentencing hearing held in May of 2014. They are referred to herein as "RP [page #].".

At about this time the defendant moved out of the Oxford House where he was residing and moved into a duplex with his girlfriend Syndee. RP 269. He had met her during recovery while she was living at an Oxford House for women. RP 267. They married in 1998. RP 269. Eventually N.W. and her brother J.W. began overnight visits with their father and Syndee, which led to visits every other weekend. RP 231, 270-272. After living in the duplex for about a year the defendant and Syndee moved to an apartment on 83rd Street in Vancouver behind a Safeway, where they lived for about a year. RP 283-286. Thereafter they moved into a manufactured home also in Clark County. RP 143-144, 293. N.W. and her brother J.W. had many overnight and weekend visits with the defendant and Syndee at the last two of these three residences. RP 232-233, 293.

Once she entered highschool N.W. began living part time with the defendant and Syndee and part time with her mother Tracy. RP 295-298. She also spent a great deal of time during the week at the defendant and Syndee's home. RP 231. According to Syndee she did not have a good relationship with N.W., and in 2003 when N.W. was 17 or 18-years-old Syndee separated from the defendant and spent about six months living in Yelm. RP 148-150, 296-298. N.W. was living with the defendant during this period of time. *Id.* Eventually Syndee and the defendant reconciled and she moved back into the family home. RP 300-302. The next year in 2004

N.W., who was 19-years-old at the time, moved to Norway to marry a man she met online. RP 155-156. Although she eventually returned to the United States for good she never lived in a home with the defendant after the first time she left for Norway at 19-years-old. RP 180.

Seven years after moving out of her father's home N.W. had occasion to provide an affirmation for her mother to use in her divorce from her current husband. RP 181. In that affirmation N.W. claimed for the first time that the defendant had sexually abused her from the time she was 12-years-old up to the time she moved to Norway at 19-years-old. *Id.* After that Affirmation was filed in her mother's divorce proceeding a Clark County Deputy Sheriff came and took a detailed statement from her. RP 183. In that statement she claimed that the first instance of sexual abuse occurred on Halloween night when she was 12-years-old. RP 126-129. On that evening she had gone to a party with the defendant, Syndee and her brother at the Church her father and stepmother attended. RP 129-133. After the party she and the defendant were in his van waiting for Syndee and J.W. to come out when the defendant reached over and fondled her vaginal area. *Id*.

According to N.W., this began a pattern of sexual abuse over the next seven years that ran the gamut from the initial fondling, to digital penetration, to penile penetration, to oral sex and then to anal penetration. RP 133-152.

N.W. claimed that for the six or eight months after Syndee moved to a

separate address her father had some form of intercourse with N.W. almost every other day. RP 150. She also claimed that the defendant took a number of photographs and videos of the two of them having sex, but eventually destroyed the photos and videos upon her demand. RP 163-164. Although she claimed that the defendant repeatedly told her he would stop sexually abusing her, the abuse only stopped when she moved to Norway. RP 159-163.

Procedural History

By information filed January 10, 2013, the Clark County Prosecutor charged the defendant Larry Dean Weatherman with six counts of incest occurring between July 27, 2002, and September 4, 2005. CP 1-4. This information also alleged the following aggravating facts for each count: (1) "that this crime was committed by one family or household member against another," (2) that the "defendant used his or her position of trust, confidence, or fiduciary responsibility to facilitate the commission of the current offense," and (3) that the "offense was part of an ongoing pattern of psychological, physical, or sexual abuse of a victim or multiple victims manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time." *Id*.

This case eventually came to trial in the latter half of April of 2014.

RP 1. In pretrial motions the state moved to (1) admit N.W.'s claims of sexual abuse occurring prior to July 22, 2002, which were not included in the

charging period because they were outside the statute of limitations, and (2) to preclude any evidence of any other sexual conduct involving N.W. as inadmissible under the rape shield statute. CP 70, 75-80. Following argument the court granted the first motion. RP 82-83. The defense then addressed the state's second motion by making an offer of proof that included the following evidence it intended to elicit during trial: (1) that N.W. had been molested by her step-brother while living in the defendant's home, (2) that her step-brother had been prosecuted for this conduct, (3) that N.W. had given a statement to the police during their investigation of the matter, (4) that the investigating officer had interviewed her about her claims of abuse, (5) that the investigating officer had asked if anyone else had sexually abused her, and (6) that she had denied any sexual abuse by any other person. RP 57-65, 70-73. Following argument the court granted the state's second request and barred the defense from calling any witnesses or attempting in any way to elicit this evidence. RP 74.

The case then proceeded to trial with the state calling four witnesses, including N.W. and her mother. RP 107, 117, 225, 248. These witnesses testified to the facts contained in the preceding factual history. *See* Factual History, *supra*. The defense then called six witnesses, including Syndee Weatherman, J.W., a family friend by the name of Judy Maxwell, and the defendant. RP 266, 325, 356, 364, 366, 370. During their testimony both

Syndee and J.W. testified to their close proximity to both the defendant and N.W. during N.W.'s periodic overnight visits and to the fact that neither saw any of the inappropriate conduct N.W. claimed had occurred. RP 266-325, 325-356.

In addition, Syndee Weatherman testified that she did remember the Halloween party N.W. had described during her testimony, that Syndee was present the entire time, and that at no point were N.W. and the defendant in the van alone. RP 276-278. Melissa Porter testified that not long after the allegations of abuse were revealed she allowed N.W. to move in with her for a couple of months. RP 357-358. According the Ms Porter one night she and N.W. were speaking when N.W. revealed that she had lied about her claims of sexual abuse and that she had made them because she hated Syndee and wanted to do anything she could to destroy their relationship. RP 358-360.

Following the reception of evidence the court instructed the jury with the defense taking exception to the court's refusal to give its proposed modified version of WPIC 1.02 defining reasonable doubt. CP 107-131; RP 395, 400-413. The state then presented its closing arguments. RP 413-434. During the state's rebuttal, the defense objected to the state's argument that "[the defendant] took her virginity." RP 443. The defense further moved that the jury be instructed to disregard the comment. *Id.* The court sustained the objection and instructed the jury as requested. *Id.* The defense then objected

a second time during rebuttal argument and moved for a mistrial when the prosecutor stated: "and now defense counsel wants his daughter to have to change her name." RP 444. The court overruled this motion. *Id.* In fact the defense had argued that N.W.'s failure to seek a name change was evidence that put her claims of abuse into question. RP 440-441.

Following argument the jury retired for deliberation. RP 445-446.

During the deliberation the jury sent out a paper with five questions on it. CP

132. The first question was"

If we find one count unanimous do all additional counts have to be unanimous."

CP 132.

In discussing this first question the court commented to counsel that the answer to this question was obviously "yes." The court stated the following on this issue:

JUDGE CLARK: Thank you. Please be seated. Counsel, the jury sent out a five-part question. Five separate questions is probably a better way to put it, um, about 1:45. The first question is, if we find five count – if we find one count unanimous, do all additional counts have to be unanimous? *And, the answer to that is yes.* And, it's whether you want me to tell them yes or whether you want me to refer to the instructions they've been given.

RP 457 (emphasis added).

Instead of asking the court to answer this question with a "yes" as the court offered, the defendant's attorney asked the court to respond with "refer

to the instructions." RP 457-462; CP 132. As a result, that is how the court responded. CP 132.

Following these added instructions by the court the jury retired for further deliberations. RP 462. The jury later returned verdicts of "guilty" to each count, along with special verdicts that (1) that the defendant and N.W. were "members of the same family or household," (2) that the defendant committed the offenses using a "position of trust to facilitate the commission of the crime[s]", and that (3) the crimes were "part of a pattern of psychological, physical, or sexual abuse of the victim . . . manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time." CP 133-148.

The court later sentenced the defendant to 100 months one each count on a standard range of 77 to 103 months on each count. CP 186-206. However, based upon the three aggravators the jury found, the court ordered that Counts I, II and III run consecutively for a total sentence of 300 months in prison. *Id.* The defendant thereafter filed timely notice of appeal. CP 207-208.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DENIED THE DEFENDANT A FAIR TRIAL WHEN IT REFUSED TO ALLOW HIM TO PRESENT RELEVANT, EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE THAT THE COMPLAINING WITNESS HAD PREVIOUSLY DENIED THAT THE DEFENDANT ABUSED HER.

While due process does not guarantee every person a perfect trial, both Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment do guarantee all defendants a fair trial. *State v. Swenson*, 62 Wn.2d 259, 382 P.2d 614 (1963); *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123, 20 L.Ed.2d 476, 88 S.Ct. 1620 (1968). As part of this right to a fair trial, a defendant charged with a crime has the right to present relevant, exculpatory evidence in his or her defense. *State v. Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d 1, 659 P.2d 514 (1983); *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973).

For example, in *State v. Ellis*, 136 Wn.2d 498, 963 P.2d 843 (1998), a defendant charged with aggravated first degree murder sought and obtained discretionary review of a trial court order granting a state's motion to exclude his three experts on diminished capacity. In granting the motion to exclude, the trial court noted that the defense had failed to meet all of the criteria for the admissibility of diminished capacity evidence set in the Court of Appeals decision in *State v. Edmon*, 28 Wn.App. 98, 621 P.2d 1310 (1981).

On review, the state argued that the trial court had not erred because

the defense experts had failed to meet the *Edmon* criteria. In its decision on the issue, the Supreme Court initially agreed with the state's analysis. However, the court nonetheless reversed the trial court, finding that regardless of the factors set out in *Edmon*, to maintain a diminished capacity defense, a defendant need only produce expert testimony demonstrating that the defendant suffers from a mental disorder, not amounting to insanity, and that the mental disorder impaired the defendant's ability to form the specific intent to commit the crime charged. The court then found that the state had failed to prove that the defendant's experts did not meet this standard. Thus, by granting the state's motion to exclude the defendant's experts on diminished capacity, the trial court had denied the defendant his due process right under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, to present relevant evidence supporting his defense.

In the case at bar the defense made an offer of proof of evidence it wanted to present on the issue of N.W.'s delayed reporting of her claims of abuse and her denial of any abuse by the defendant. The offer of proof was as follows: (1) that N.W. had been molested by her step-brother while living in the defendant's home, (2) that her step-brother had been prosecuted for this conduct, (3) that N.W. had given a statement to the police during their investigation of the matter, (4) that the investigating officer had interviewed

her about her claims of abuse, (5) that the investigating officer had asked if anyone else had sexually abused her, and (6) that she had denied any sexual abuse by any other person. RP 57-65, 70-73. Pursuant to a state's motion *in limine*, the court ruled that this evidence was inadmissible under RCW 9A.44.020, the rape shield statute. As the following explains, this ruling was in error and it denied the defendant his constitutional right to present relevant, exculpatory evidence.

Under RCW 9A.44.020, evidence of a "victim's prior sexual behavior is generally not admissible on the issue of credibility and may only be admitted on the issue of consent in limited circumstances." Subsection (2) of this statute states:

(2) Evidence of the victim's past sexual behavior including but not limited to the victim's marital history, divorce history, or general reputation for promiscuity, nonchastity, or sexual mores contrary to community standards is inadmissible on the issue of credibility and is inadmissible to prove the victim's consent except as provided in subsection (3) of this section, but when the perpetrator and the victim have engaged in sexual intercourse with each other in the past, and when the past behavior is material to the issue of consent, evidence concerning the past behavior between the perpetrator and the victim may be admissible on the issue of consent to the offense.

RCW 9A,44.020(2).

The trial court's error in this case was twofold in applying the rapeshield statute to prevent the defense from presenting the evidence outlined in its offer of proof. The first error was in the court's failure to recognize that RCW 9A.44.020 by its very terms does not apply when a defendant is charged with a crime under RCW 9A.66 such as incest because the rape shield statute, by its very language, limits its application to offenses charged under RCW 9A.44 with two exceptions. The first and third sections of the rape shield statute note the following on this issue:

- (1) In order to convict a person of any crime defined in this chapter it shall not be necessary that the testimony of the alleged victim be corroborated.
- (3) In any prosecution for the crime of rape, trafficking pursuant to RCW 9A.40.100, or any of the offenses in chapter 9.68A RCW, or for an attempt to commit, or an assault with an intent to commit any such crime evidence of the victim's past sexual behavior . . .

RCW 9A.44.020(1)&(3) (in part).

As these two portions of the statute indicate, the legislature's purpose in adopting this statute was to create a rule of evidence in prosecutions under "this chapter", which is RCW 9A.44 and the two exceptions noted, which are trafficking charges under RCW 9A.40.100 and offenses under RCW 9.68A. In the case at bar the state charged the defendant with incest under RCW 9A.64.020. In fact, there are only three crimes enumerated under RCW 9A.64.020. They are bigamy, incest and child selling. *See* RCW 9A.64.010, .020 and .030. Consent is not a defense to any one of these offenses and the victim's prior sexual history has never been relevant to either prosecuting or

defending these offenses as they often have been relevant for prosecuting or defending many of the sex crimes defined under RCW 9A.44.

The second error the trial court made in this case was in its failure to recognize that even if RCW 9A.44.020 did generally apply in prosecutions for incest under RCW 9A.64.020, the rape shield statute by its terms would not apply to exclude the evidence the defense sought to introduce. The reason is that the rape shield statute only acts to exclude evidence of the alleged victim's "past sexual behavior," not her status as a victim of sexual abuse. The specific, qualifying language of the first part of section two of the statute states:

(2) Evidence of the victim's past sexual behavior including but not limited to the victim's marital history, divorce history, or general reputation for promiscuity, nonchastity, or sexual mores contrary to community standards is inadmissible . . .

RCW 9A.44.020(2).

The statute is clear that the evidence at issue is the alleged victim's "past sexual behavior." Although the word "behavior" is not defined in this statute, its general meaning is "the manner of conducting oneself." *See* Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary, p. 101 (1977). Black's Law Dictionary expands on this view and gives the following definition for the word "behavior."

Manner of having, holding, or keeping one's self; manner of behaving, whether good or bad; conduct; manners; carriage of one's self, with respect to propriety and morals; deportment.

Black's Law Dictionary, p. 141 (6th ed.1990)

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