NO. 46328-8-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION II

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

LARRY DEAN WEATHERMAN, Appellant

---

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY  
CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.13-1-00014-8

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK  
Prosecuting Attorney  
Clark County, Washington

AARON T. BARTLETT, WSBA #39710  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney  
1013 Franklin Street  
PO Box 5000  
Vancouver WA 98666-5000  
Telephone (360) 397-2261

##

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

C. ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT DENY THE DEFENDANT A FAIR TRIAL BECAUSE EVEN THOUGH IT ERRED IN APPLY THE RAPE SHIELD STATUTE TO EXCLUDE THE PROFFERED EVIDENCE, A PROPER BASIS EXISTS IN THE RECORD TO EXCLUDE THE EVIDENCE, AND EVEN ASSUMING EXCLUSION WAS IMPROPER THERE IS NO REASONABLE PROBABILITY THAT THE EVIDENCE WOULD HAVE CHANGED THE OUTCOME OF THE TRIAL.

“Questions of relevancy and the admissibility of testimonial evidence are within the discretion of the trial court, and we review them only for manifest abuse of discretion.” *State v. Aguirre*, 168 Wn.2d 350, 361, 229 P.3d 669 (2010); *State v. Martin*, 169 Wn.App. 620, 628, 281 P.3d 315 (2012) (“The admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and an appellate court will not disturb that decision unless no reasonable person would adopt the trial court's view.”) (citations omitted). A trial court abuses its discretion when it “applies the wrong legal standard, or bases its ruling on an erroneous view of the law.” *State v. Slocum*, 183 Wn.App. 438, 449, 333 P.3d 541 (2014).

That said, a reviewing court can affirm the trial court’s evidentiary rulings “on any grounds the record and the law support.” *State v. Grier*, 168 Wn.App. 635, 644, 278 P.3d 225 (2012) (citing *State v. Costich*, 152 Wn.2d 463, 477, 98 P.3d 795 (2004)). Thus, a trial court may misapply the

rape shield statute to exclude evidence, but the determination to exclude evidence “may be sustained on any proper basis within the record and will not be reversed simply because the trial court gave a wrong or insufficient reason for its determination.” *State v. Markle*, 118 Wn.2d 424, 438, 823 P.2d 1101 (1992) (citation omitted) (holding the trial court erred when it applied the rape shield statute to evidence of sexual abuse but that the trial court did not err in excluding said evidence). Nonetheless, if a trial court’s evidentiary ruling is in error, and there is no basis in the record to sustain the ruling, reversal will only be required “if there is a reasonable possibility that the testimony would have changed the outcome of trial.” *Aguirre*, 168 Wn.2d at 361 (citing *State v. Fankouser*, 133 Wn.App. 689, 695, 138 P.3d 140 (2006)).

When a trial court excludes evidence, it is incumbent on the party who sought to admit the evidence to make an offer of proof regarding the substance of the evidence. ER 103(a)(2); *Mad River Orchard Co. v. Krack Corp.*, 89 Wn.2d 535, 537, 573 P.2d 796 (1978) (quotation omitted) (holding it is the duty of the party offering evidence “to make clear to the trial court what it is that he offers in proof, and the reason why he deems the offer admissible over the objections of his opponent, so that the court may make an informed ruling”). “An offer of proof serves three purposes: it informs the court of the legal theory under which the offered evidence is

admissible; it informs the judge of the specific nature of the offered evidence so that the court can assess its admissibility; and it creates a record adequate for review.” *State v. Ray*, 116 Wn.2d 531, 538, 806 P.2d 1220 (1991) (citations omitted). A formal offer of proof, however, is not necessary when the substance of the excluded evidence is apparent. *Id.* at 539.

a. Rape Shield Statute

Under the rape shield statute, RCW 9A.44.020, evidence of a victim’s past sexual behavior, broadly speaking, is generally inadmissible. By its plain language the rape shield statute only applies to offenses charged under chapter RCW 9A.44, “trafficking pursuant to RCW 9A.40.100, [] any of the offenses in chapter 9.68A,” and “an attempt to commit, or an assault with an intent to commit any such crime.” RCW 9A.44.020(1), (3). Incest in the First Degree is a crime pursuant to RCW 9A.64.020(1)(a). Because RCW 9A.64.020 is not addressed by the rape shield statute, the statute does not apply when the offense charged is Incest in the First Degree.

Furthermore, the rape shield statute is consistently applied to preclude evidence of prior sexual behavior of the victim because the evidence often has little, if any, relevance on the issues for which it is usually offered, namely, credibility or consent. *Markle*, 118 Wn.2d. at

438; *State v. Carver*, 37 Wn.App. 122, 124, 678 P.2d 842 (1984). Sexual abuse, however, is not the type of evidence contemplated by the rape shield statute, i.e., being sexually abused does not amount to being engaged in sexual behavior, especially where there is no alleged “misconduct” on the victim’s part and consent is not at issue. *Markle*, 118 Wn.2d at 438; *Carver*, 37 Wn.App. at 125-26; Br. of App. at 15-16.

Consequently, Mr. Weatherman is correct that the trial court erred when it ruled that the rape shield applied to evidence related to his prosecution under RCW 9A.64.020(1)(a) and misapplied the rape shield statute when it found that the sexual abuse evidence that Mr. Weatherman sought to introduce was precluded by the rape shield statute. Nonetheless, as argued below, the determination to exclude the evidence can be sustained on a proper basis within the record.

b. General Evidentiary Principles of Relevance, Probative Value, and Prejudice

Evidence is relevant if it has a tendency to make the existence of any consequential fact more or less probable. ER 401; *State v. Suttle*, 61 Wn.App.703, 710–11, 812 P.2d 119 (1991) (citation omitted) (“In determining relevance, (1) the purpose for which the evidence is offered must be of consequence to the outcome of the action and (2) the evidence must tend to make the existence of the identified fact more probable.”).

Relevant evidence, however, may be excluded “if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury. . . .” ER 403. A trial court’s evaluation of relevance under ER 401 and its balancing of probative value against its prejudicial effect or potential to confuse the issues or mislead the jury under ER 403 is reviewed “with a great deal of deference, using a ‘manifest abuse of discretion’ standard of review.” *State v. Luvene*, 127 Wn.2d 690, 706-07, 903 P.2d 960 (1995) (citing *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 78, 882 P.2d 747 (1994)).

While under the Constitution, States’ have “broad latitude . . . to establish rules excluding evidence from criminal trials” a criminal defendant’s “constitutional right to a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense limits this latitude.” *State v. Donald*, 178 Wn.App 250, 263, 316 P.3d 1081 (2013) (citation and internal quotations omitted). “An evidence rule abridges this right when it infringes upon a weighty interest of the defendant and is arbitrary or disproportionate to the purpose it was designed to serve.” *Id.* Similarly, a defendant’s right to present a defense is limited. *Id.* For instance, a defendant’s right to present a defense is “subject to reasonable restrictions and must yield to ‘established rules of procedure and evidence designed to assure both fairness and reliability in the ascertainment of guilt and innocence.’” *Id.* at 263-64 (quoting *State v.*

*Finch*, 137 Wn.2d 792, 825, 975 P.2d 967 (1999)); *Aguirre*, 168 Wn.2d. at 362-63 (Holding the scope of the right to present a defense “does not extend to the introduction of otherwise inadmissible evidence.”). For example, straightforwardly, a “criminal defendant has no constitutional right to have irrelevant evidence admitted in his or her defense.” *State v. Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d 1, 15, 659 P.2d 514 (1983) (citation omitted). A violation of a defendant’s right to present a complete defense is subject to harmless error analysis. *State v. Maupin*, 128 Wn.2d 918, 928-29, 913 P.2d 808 (1996). “A constitutional error is harmless if the appellate court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result in the absence of the error.” *Id.*

When a defendant seeks to introduce evidence of prior sexual abuse of the victim, as a threshold matter, that evidence must be relevant. *State v. Hancock*, 46 Wn.App 672, 679, 731 P.2d 1133 (1987) (*aff’d State v. Hancock*, 109 Wn.2d 760, 748 P.2d 611 (1988)). Evidence of prior sexual abuse of the victim “may be relevant to show, among other things, a motive for fabrication, . . . , [] to rebut the inference that the victim would not have knowledge of sexual acts and terminology unless the defendant were guilty as charged,” or where the prosecution submits physical evidence of penetration and the past abuse involved penetration. *Id.* (citing *State v. Peterson*, 35 Wn.App. 481, 484, 667 P.2d 645 (1983));

*State v. Kilgore*, 107 Wn.App. 160, 181-82, 26 P.3d 308 (2001); *See State v. Horton*, 116 Wn.App. 909, 68 P.3d 1145 (2003). When balancing those relevant reasons to admit evidence of prior sexual abuse of the victim against the potential of unfair prejudice to the trial process and to the victim, courts should consider that evidence of prior abuse can:

mislead the jury by focusing attention on the child. When a child has been abused in the past, the jury might infer that the child either willingly participated in the current abuse or provoked it, especially if the child is older. Conversely, despite that it is not uncommon for a child to be abused by more than one person, the jury may doubt that any child could be so unfortunate. The evidence can affect the victim by forcing the child to testify about two traumatizing events, rather than one. This could discourage the reporting of abuse.

*Kilgore*, 107 Wn.App. at 180-81.

Here, the evidence that N.W. was previously sexually abused by her step-brother and that her step-brother was convicted for the conduct was properly excluded as the evidence was not relevant. On the other hand, any evidence of N.W. denying Mr. Weatherman abused her, or evidence of her failure to disclose abuse at his hands was relevant to the case, and Mr. Weatherman was allowed by the trial court to ask N.W. about these topics. RP 74, 76-77. Mr. Weatherman's offer of proof on the evidence for which he complains he was improperly prohibited from presenting is as follows:



[MR. WEATHERMAN]: First, there's sexual abuse of the complaining witness by others, right? There -- her stepbrother, Michael Baker, was -- pled guilty to a sexual abuse charge against her when -- that allegedly occurred when she was fourteen years of age. . . .

JUDGE CLARK: So you want to bring that in for what purpose?

[MR. WEATHERMAN]: . . . I think it goes to her credibility, number one, and because she was interviewed by then-Officer Paul Prather, who was the, I guess -- I think you would call him the main investigating officer in that case. At that time, his testimony would be that he would have asked her if anyone else was engaging in any kind of sexual behavior with her when she was fourteen years old, and his -- he said that would be his normal course of events; he would have asked.

And in this case, there was no report of anyone else sexually abusing her while, in fact, based upon her interview by the Defense, it would appear that she was being sexually abused by [ ] her stepfather . . . so she didn't report, basically my -- our position, any abuse on the part of her father at that time when she had the opportunity to do so, which either goes to credibility or that she's confabulated this early -- early allegations of abuse that -- allegedly occur before then that the State wants to introduce as part of its case in chief under this [lustful] disposition. . . ."

And the Michael Baker also has another aspect of -- of a motive to falsify because after Michael Baker was convicted, a couple of years later, he moved in with my client and his then and still wife, and the mother of Michael Baker. He moved in with them, and after that, she -- there was no contact because there was a no-contact order in place between Michael Baker and [N.W.], and we think that that could have angered her to some degree and given her a potential motive to falsify.

RP 56-58, 63.

Following the above offer of proof, and offers of proof on evidence not subject to this appeal, the trial court granted the State's motion to exclude evidence of N.W.'s past sexual behavior to include evidence of her being sexually abused by her step-brother. RP 74, 77. The trial court also, at first, seemingly ruled that Mr. Weatherman would not be able to question N.W. about her failure to assert allegations against him but then stated "the Defense still has the ability to argue that because clearly the report didn't happen. I mean, we know the date that the actual report happened. Whether she had opportunities to, you can ask on -- you know, did you walk by a phone on this date? Did you know how to dial 911?" RP 74. The final exchange between Mr. Weatherman and the trial court about the evidence at issue on appeal made clear that he would be able to explore the area of N.W.'s failure to disclose:

[MR. WEATHERMAN]: So where I'm . . . left at is the potential retraction and I can argue, based on the way the evidence comes out, that she had the opportunity to disclose and perhaps obviously didn't, but not actually bring that out --

JUDGE CLARK: Right.

[MR. WEATHERMAN]: -- through the officer. . . .

RP 76-77.

The evidence of sexual abuse perpetrated by N.W.'s step-brother against N.W. was properly excluded because it was not relevant to an

issue at trial. Mr. Weatherman attempted to argue that this sexual abuse was relevant on the issue of N.W.'s credibility, whether she was confabulating, and that it provided a motive to fabricate Mr. Weatherman's abuse<sup>1</sup>, but did so with only conclusory statements and without information or argument to support each theory of relevancy. RP 56-58, 63. His offer of proof was lacking. *Markle*, 118 Wn.2d at 438 ("The defense had sought to introduce testimony by [defendant's son] that he had sexually abused one of the complainants in order to establish an anger motive for the child to fabricate her allegations against [defendant]. The trial court allowed defense counsel several opportunities to make a satisfactory offer of proof before finally ruling to exclude any mention of sexual abuse by [defendant's] son. The record confirms the trial court's determination that defense counsel was unable to support the theory of fabrication."). Regardless, however, of any offer of proof, evidence that N.W. was sexually abused by her step-brother—he was convicted of his crimes—does not make it more or less likely that N.W. was telling the truth about what Mr. Weatherman did to her. On the other hand, the danger of jury confusion or of unfair prejudice as identified by *Kilgore* such as the jury inferring the victim willingly participated in the abuse or

---

<sup>1</sup> It appears, on appeal, that Mr. Weatherman has abandoned the theories that the evidence was relevant because it tended to show confabulation or a motive to fabricate. Br. of App. at 16-17.

disbelieving that a victim could be so unlucky as to be abused by more than one person, was very real.<sup>2</sup> 107 Wn.App. at 180-81.

On the issue of N.W.'s non-disclosure of Mr. Weatherman's sexual abuse at the time of the investigation into her step-brother, for one, it does not appear that Mr. Weatherman's offer of proof to the trial court fully aligns with the explanation of the potential evidence on appeal. *Compare* RP 56-58 ("Officer Paul Prather['s] . . . testimony would be that he would have asked her if anyone else was engaging in any kind of sexual behavior with her when she was fourteen years old, and his -- he said that would be his normal course of events; he would have asked. And in this case, there was no report of anyone else sexually abusing her. . . .") *with* Br. of App. at 12-13 ("The offer of proof was as follows: . . . (4) that the investigating officer had interviewed [N.W.] about her claims of abuse, (5) that the investigating office had asked if anyone else had sexually abused her, and (6) that she had denied any sexual abuse by any other person."). Common sense dictates that while evidence of a person's routine or habit can be admissible, such evidence is not as weighty as evidence that a person recalls asking a question and getting a specific answer. ER 406.

Additionally, the court specifically allowed Mr. Weatherman to ask N.W. about having the opportunity to disclose his sexual abuse of her

---

<sup>2</sup> See the jury's second question to the court regarding the sexual abuse of N.W. by her step-father. CP 132.

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